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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Flleady 156716 D.C.

ELECTRONI

DEC 29, 2008

STEVEN M. LARIMORE
CLERK U.S. DIST. CT.
S.D. OF FLA. - MIAM|

CASE NO.
08-23546-CIV-HOEVELER/GARBER

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, )
Plaintiff,

RICA FOODS, INC. and CALIXTO CHAVES,

Defendants.

N S N N N S S N e’

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER RELIEF

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission™) alleges:

I. INTRODUCTION

1. Calixto Chaves, while serving as Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of Rica
Foods, Inc. (“Rica”), engaged in pervasive self-dealing. Between 1998 and 2004, Chaves
pledged and encumbered numerous assets belonging to Rica in order to secure
approximately $37 million in loans that third-parties made to him and entities under his
control. Additionally, Chaves caused Rica to purchase approximately $24 million worth
of real property and other assets owned, directly or indirectly, by Chaves and his family.
Chaves engaged in the related-party transactions because of mounting personal and
business debts that ultimately lead to his resignation from Rica in January 2005.

2. Although its most senior executive officer was consummating millions of
dollars in related-party transactions, Rica failed to disclose the transactions and
encumbrances in the annual and quarterly reports and financial statements the company

filed with the Commission between 2000 and 2005. Moreover, Rica significantly
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misstated its assets, stockholders’ equity, and net income (loss) on its financial statements
by improperly recording the value of the assets it purchased from Chaves and his family.
In December 2005, eleven months after Chaves resigned from the company and only
when confronted about the related-party transactions by a company shareholder, did Rica
reveal the transactions to investors in a Form 8-K it filed with the Commission.

3. By engaging in this conduct, Chaves and Rica violated Sections 10(b),
13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange
Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78;(b), 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A), and 78m(b)(2)(B), and Rules 10b-5,
12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5, 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-
13. Chaves also violated Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(5),
and Rules 13a-14, 13b2-1, and 13b2-2, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13a-14, 240.13b2-1, and
240.13b2-2.

II. DEFENDANTS

4. Chaves, 62, is a citizen of Costa Rica. From August 1996 to August 2004,
Chaves served as the CEO and President of Rica, as well as Chairman of the company’s
board of directors. In August 2004, Chaves resigned as Rica’s President and Chairman.
In January 2005, he resigned as CEO. In a settled civil action filed by the Commission in
August 2003, Chaves and Rica were enjoined from further violations of the books and
records, internal controls and officer certification provisions of the federal securities
laws. SEC v. Rica Foods, Inc., et al., Civil Action No. 03-22191-CV-King (S.D. Fla.
Aug. 15, 2003).

5. Rica is a Nevada corporation with principal executive offices in City La

Ribera de Belen, Heredia, Costa Rica. The Company maintained corporate offices in
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South Florida from 1996 to 2005. Rica’s common stock is registered with the
Commission pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act and, from May 1999 to
November 2006, was listed on the American Stock Exchange (“AMEX”). In November
2006, the AMEX delisted Rica for, among other things, failing to file current reports and
financial statements with the Commission. Rica’s securities are currently traded over-
the-counter.

II1I. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 21(d),
21(e), and 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e), and 78aa.

7. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants and venue is proper
in the Southern District of Florida. At all times relevant to the allegations of this
Complaint, Rica maintained corporate offices in the Southern District of Florida.
Defendants also undertook acts in the Southern District of Florida that constitute the
violations set forth in this Complaint.

8. Defendants, directly or indirectly, made use of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the means or instruments of transportation and
communication in interstate commerce, and the mails, in connection with the acts,
practices, and courses of business set forth in this Complaint.

IV. FACTS
A. Background of Chaves and Rica

9. In 1969, Chaves founded Rica’s principal operating subsidiary and

developed it into Costa Rica’s largest poultry and animal feed company. In 1996, he

brought the company public through a reverse merger with a U.S. corporation and, in the
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eight years that followed, exercised singular control over the company’s operations by
serving as its CEO, President, and Chairman and by appointing his family and close
friends as directors and senior officers. Additionally, Chaves and his family held a
controlling equity interest in Rica.

10.  In or about 1998, Chaves began to experience financial problems that
worsened between 2000 and 2003 due to a drop in Rica’s stock price, several failed
commercial ventures, losses from investments in securities, and mounting personal and
business debts. Striving to remain financially solvent under these circumstances, Chaves
pledged and encumbered assets belonging to Rica and its subsidiaries in order to obtain
and secure loans for himself and various entities under his control. Chaves also caused
Rica to acquire real property and other assets owned by him, his family, and entities they
controlled in exchange for cash and securities.

B. Chaves’ Related Party Transactions

11. On at least twelve occasions between 1999 and 2004, Chaves obtained or
maintained loans and lines of credit for himself and entities under his control by pledging
as collateral and guaranteeing repayment with assets that belonged to Rica. Chaves and
entities he controlled received in aggregate approximately $37 million in proceeds from
the loans and lines of credit secured by the Rica assets, most of which were extended by
banks and other financial institutions. Rica did not receive any of the borrowed funds.

12. A pledge Chaves made in 2001 typifies the pledges and guarantees he
made between 1999 and 2004 for his financial benefit using Rica’s assets as collateral.
In April 2001, a corporation formed by Chaves borrowed approximately $5 million from

a bank. As collateral for the loan, Chaves transferred approximately $5 million worth of
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investment securities owned by Rica into a guarantee trust established to secure the loan
and managed by the bank. The loan remained outstanding, and the investment securities
in the possession of the bank, until June 2004 when Chaves paid the bank the
approximately $4.3 million outstanding on the loan. In August 2004, after Chaves’ debt
had been satisfied, the bank returned Rica’s investment securities to the company.

13.  In addition to securing loans and lines of credit for his own benefit using
assets that belonged to Rica, Chaves caused Rica to purchase various assets owned by
him, his family, and entities controlled by them. From 1998 to 2004, Rica remitted
approximately $24 million in cash and securities to Chaves and his family in exchange
for an airplane, the securities and property of two companies, and several parcels of real
property (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Chaves Assets”).

14. The approximately $61 million in loan and purchase transactions Chaves
consummated with Rica between 1998 and 2004 while serving as the company’s CEO
were related-party transactions that Rica was compelled to disclose to its stockholders
and other investors. Rica, however, failed to make the transactions known to the public
until December 2005, eleven months after Chaves resigned from the company.

C. Rica Failed to Disclose the Related Party Transactions

15. Between 2000 and 2005, Rica filed with the Commission annual reports
on Forms 10-K for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2000, through September 30,
2004. It also filed quarterly reports on Forms 10-Q from the three-month period ending
December 31, 1999 through the three-month period ending June 30, 2005. The reports

were accompanied by Rica’s financial statements for the relevant periods.
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16.  Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act, 17 C.F.R.
§ 229.404(a), required Rica to disclose in the annual and quarterly reports it filed with the
Commission any and all transactions exceeding $60,000 in which it was a party and in
which its CEO had a direct or indirect interest. Additionally, Rule 4-08(k) of Regulation
S-X under the Exchange Act, 17 C.F.R. § 210.4-08(k), and Generally Accepted
Accounting Principals (“GAAP”) required Rica to identify and explain all related-party
transactions on its financial statements accompanying its annual and quarterly reports.

17. Contrary to Commission regulations and GAAP, Rica did not disclose in
the annual and quarterly reports it filed with the Commission between 2000 and 2005 the
pledges and guarantees Chaves made using the company’s assets or the terms of the
underlying loans and credit facilities that benefited Chaves and entities controlled by him.
Further, although Rica disclosed in its reports the Chaves Assets it purchased, it did not
reveal that the company had purchased the assets from Chaves, his family, and entities
controlled by them. Rica thereby prevented its stockholders and other investors from
considering the potential risks the approximately $61 million in loan and purchase
transactions consummated by Chaves presented to the company.

D. Impact of Improper Recording of Chaves Assets on Rica’s Financials

18.  Rica, moreover, improperly recorded the value of the Chaves Assets on its
financial statements. Since Rica purchased all of the Chaves Assets from Chaves, his
family, and entities controlled by them, GAAP required Rica to recognize the buyers and
sellers to be under common control and to record the Chaves Assets on a carry-over basis

or at the prices Chaves, his family, and the entities they controlled paid for the assets.
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Instead, Rica recorded the Chaves Assets at a step-up in basis or at the prices it paid for
the assets, which were substantially higher.

19. By improperly recording the Chaves Assets at a step-up in basis, Rica
materially overstated its assets in its Forms 10-K for fiscal years 2002, 2003, and 2004,
and in its quarterly reports on Forms 10-Q for the first three quarters of fiscal 2005 by
between $10.7 million (13%) and $14.7 million (24%). It also materially overstated its
stockholders’ equity for the same periods by between $8.7 million (58%) and $13.2
million (178%). Additionally, during the first three quarters of fiscal 2005, Rica
materially overstated its net income by $196,477 (12%), $256,155 (27%), and $339,977
(24%,), respectively.

E. Rica Lacked Adequate Internal Controls

20. From 1995 to 2005, Rica failed to devise and maintain adequate internal
controls sufficient to ensure that its financial statements were prepared in conformity with
GAAP. Moreover, Chaves circumvented the internal controls that Rica did have by
failing to disclose to Rica’s Board of Directors, Chief Financial Officer, and independent
auditor that the transactions he effected encumbered Rica’s assets or his control over the
entities from which Rica purchased the Chaves Assets.

F. Chaves’ Certifications

21.  Beginning in 2002, Chaves, serving as Rica’s CEO, was required
pursuant to Rule 13a-14 under the Exchange Act, 17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-14, to certify to
the best of his knowledge that the annual and quarterly reports Rica filed with the
Commission on Forms 10-K and Forms 10-Q, respectively, did not misstate or omit

material facts and fairly presented, in all material respects, Rica’s financial condition and
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results of operation. Between 2000 and 2004, Chaves certified Rica’s annual and
quarterly reports and accompanying financial statements as accurate despite the fact that
the tens-of-millions of dollars in related-party loan and purchase transactions he had
effected with the company were not disclosed in the reports or financial statements.

22.  Additionally, between 2002 and 2004, Rica’s auditors requested Chaves
disclose to them any related-party transactions he was aware of in connection with their
annual audits of Rica’s financial statements and Chaves responded to the request by
providing the auditors with a written management representation letter, falsely affirming
he was not aware of any related-party transactions.

G. Chaves’ Resignation and Rica’s Subsequent Disclosures

23.  In mid-2003 Chaves’ financial condition became dire and in December
2003, he was forced to sell the controlling equity interest he and his family held in Rica.
After Chaves ceded equitable control of Rica, new management was appointed to operate
the company and, in August 2004, Chaves resigned as President and Chairman of the
company and, in January 2005, as its CEO.

24.  In December 2005, Rica filed a Form 8-K with the Commission disclosing
one of its shareholders had alleged Chaves, while serving as CEO of the company, had
engaged in certain undisclosed related-party transactions to the detriment of the
company’s stockholders and other investors. In response to the allegations, Rica initiated
an internal investigation into the related-party transactions and informed the public its
consolidated financial statements dating back to December 1999 could no longer be

relied upon and would require restatement.
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25.  In February 2008, Rica completed its internal investigation into the
related-party transactions and filed a second Form 8-K with the Commission disclosing
the details of the approximately $61 million in loan and purchase transactions Chaves
consummated while CEO of the company and restating, on an unaudited basis, its
financial statements for fiscal years 2003 and 2004, and the first three quarters of 2005 to
reflect the transactions. The restated financial statements also included corrections for
the cumulative effect of all errors resulting from the related-party transactions that Rica
identified in fiscal year 2002 and prior years. Additionally, the Form 8-K and restated
financial statements reflected Chaves had repaid all of the loans and credit facilities he
had secured with assets belonging to Rica by August 2004.

COUNT I

Chaves and Rica Violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5

26.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 25 of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

27.  From at least 2000 to 2005, Chaves and Rica, directly or indirectly, by use
of the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, and of the mails, in connection
with the purchase or sale of securities, as described in this Complaint, knowingly,
willfully, or recklessly: (a) employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; (b) made
untrue statements of material facts or omitted to state material facts necessary in order to
make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading; and/or (c) engaged in acts, practices, or courses of business which

operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchasers of such securities.
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28. By reason of the foregoing, Chaves and Rica, directly or indirectly,
violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17
C.F.R. §240.10b-5.

COUNT 11

Rica Violated Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20,
13a-1, and 13a-13 and Chaves Aided and Abetted Rica Violations

29.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 25 of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

30. From at least 2000 to 2005, Rica, under the control and at the direction of
Chaves, did not file factually accurate annual and quarterly reports on Forms10-K and
Forms 10-Q with the Commission and failed to include material information in the
reports that was necessary to make statements contained in the reports not misleading.

31. By reason of the foregoing, Rica violated Section 13(a) of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. §78m(a), and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20,
240.13a-1, and 240.13a-13.

32. By reason of the foregoing, Chaves aided anci abetted Rica’s violations of
Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78m(a), and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and
13a-13, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-13.

COUNT III

Rica Violated Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B)
of the Exchange Act and Chaves Aided and Abetted Rica’s Violations

33.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 25 of this

Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
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34. From at least 2000 to 2005, Rica, under the control and at the direction of
Chaves, failed to make and keep, books, records, and accounts, which in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflected the transactions and dispositions of Rica’s assets.

35.  From at least 2000 to 2005, Rica, under the control and at the direction of
Chaves, failed to devise and maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient
to provide reasonable assurances that: (1) transactions were executed in accordance with
management’s general or specific authorization; (2) transactions were recorded as
necessary (a) to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP or
any other criteria applicable to such statements or (b) to maintain accountability of assets;
(3) access to assets was permitted only in accordance with management’s general or
specific authorization; or (4) the recorded accountability for assets was compared with
existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action was taken with respect to
any differences.

36. By reason of the foregoing, Rica violated Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and
13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78m(b)(2)(A) and (b)(2)(B).

37. By reason of the foregoing, Chaves aided aﬁd abetted Rica’s violations of
Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78m(b)(2)(A) and
(®)(2)(B).

COUNT 1V
Chaves Violated Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act and Rule 13b2-1
38.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 25 of this

Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
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39. From at least 2000 to 2004, Chaves knowingly circumvented Rica’s
internal accounting controls or knowingly failed to implement a system of internal
accounting controls for Rica, and knowingly falsified books, records, or accounts subject
to Section 13(b)(2) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78m(b)(2).

40. By reason of the foregoing, Chaves violated Section 13(b)}(5) of the
Exchange Act,15 U.S.C. §78m(b)(5), and Rule 13b2-1, 17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1.

COUNT V
Chaves Violated Rule 13b2-2 under the Exchange Act

41.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 25 of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

42. From at least 2000 to 2004, Chaves, directly or indirectly, made or caused
to be made materially false or misleading statements or omitted to state, or caused
another person to omit to state, material facts necessary in order to make statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading, to an accountant in connection with an audit, review, or examination of
Rica’s financial statements or the filing of reports required to be filed with the
Commission.

43. By reason of the foregoing, Chaves violated Rule 13b2-2 under the
Exchange Act, 17 C.F.R. §240.13b2-2.

COUNT VI

Chaves Filed False Certifications

44. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 25 of this

Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
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45.  From at least 2002 to 2004, in annual reports filed on Forms 10-K and
quarterly reports filed on Forms 10-Q, Chaves falsely that to the best of his knowledge
there were no untrue statement of material fact or omission of a material fact necessary in
order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading.

46. By reason of the foregoing, Chaves violated Rule 13a-14 of the Exchange
Act, 17 C.F.R. §240.13a-14.

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court:
I

Declaratory Relief

Declare, determine, and find that Chaves and Rica have committed the violations
of the federal securities laws alleged in this Complaint.

IL.

Permanent Injunctive Relief

Issue a Permanent Injunction enjoining Chaves and Rica, their officers, agents,
servants, employees, attorneys, representatives, and all persons in active concert or
participation with them, and each of them, from violating Sections 10(b), 13(a),
13(b)(2)(A), and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§78j(b), 78m(a),
78m(b)(2)(A), and 78m(b)(2)(B), and Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 theunder,
17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5, 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-13, and enjoining Chaves,
his officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, representatives, and all persons in

active concert or participation with him, and each of them, from further
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violating Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78m(b)(5), and Rules 13a-14,
13b2-1, and 13b2-2 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13a-14, 240.13b2-1 and 240.13b2-2.
IIL.

Civil Money Penalties

Issue an Order directing Chaves to pay a civil money penalty pursuant to Section
21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §78u(d).
Iv.

Officer and Director Bar

Issue an Order permanently barring Chaves from acting as an officer or director
of a publicly-held company pursuant to Section 21(d)(2) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C.
§78u(d)(2).
V.
Further Relief

Grant such other relief as the Court may deem just and appropriate.

14
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VI.

Retention of Jurisdiction

Further, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court retain jurisdiction
over this action in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees
that may hereby be entered, or to entertain any suitable application or motion by the

Commission for additional relief within the jurisdiction of this Court.

Decemben&, 2008 Respectfully submitted,

Robert K. Levenson L\‘

Regional Trial Counsel

Florida Bar No. 0089771

Direct Dial No. (305) 982-6341
levensonr(@sec.gov

Attorney for Plaintiff

Securities and Exchange Commission
801 Brickell Avenue Suite 1800
Miami, FL. 33131

(305) 982-6300

(305) 536-4154 (facsimile)
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VII. CAUSE OF ACTION

Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing and Write a Briel Statement of Cause (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless

IS U.S.C. §78j(b: 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5; 15 U.S.C. §78m(a), 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20. 240.13a-1, and
240.13a-13: 15 U.S.C. §78m(b)} 2% AY and (bY2)(B). Violations of the federal securities laws.
LENGTH OF TRIAL via _____ days estimated (for both sides to try enlirc case)

VIill. REQUESTED IN 3 CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION |

UNDER F.R.C.P. 23

DEMAND $

CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:

COMPLAINT:

Permanent Inj.,

JURY DEMAND: O Yes @ No

ABOVE INFORMATION IS TRUE & CORRECT TO

SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF Rli(,'()RI.),

DATE

THE BEST OF MY KNOW ;
ST OF MY KNOWLEDGE pophert K. Levenson, Esq:
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